1980

# Highland Construction Co. v. LaMar D. Stevenson et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action by Highland Construction Company  
("Highland"), the earthwork subcontractor on a state highway

project ("Project"), against LaMar D. Stevenson dba LaMar D. Construction Company ("Stevenson"), the prime contractor, United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company ("USF&G"), Stevenson's bonding company, and Shell Oil Company ("Shell"), the owner of, and the party engaged by the Utah Department of Transportation ("UDOT") to relocate and encase, certain gas and water lines located within the portion of the highway right of way included within the Project, for the recovery of damages and additional compensation resulting from defective plans and specifications, unreasonable delays and breach of contract.

#### DISPOSITION IN DISTRICT COURT

The trial court, the Honorable Allen B. Sorenson sitting without a jury presiding, found no cause of action on all claims of Highland's Complaint, entered its declaratory judgment that Stevenson had rightfully back charged Highland for certain claimed sums and awarded Stevenson judgment for attorneys fees and costs.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Highland seeks (a) to have the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set aside insofar as they relate to Highland's claims, (b) a reversal of the trial court's judgments dismissing all of Highland's claims and awarding Stevenson attorneys fees and costs, (c) the entry of



a judgment in favor of Highland and against Stevenson for the sum of \$46,403.83 for damages and additional compensation to which Highland is entitled by reason of the defective plans and specifications which failed to disclose the very substantial unstable subgrade conditions encountered by Highland in the performance of its work, by reason of unreasonable and unnecessary delays caused and created by Stevenson as a result of his failure to perform preparatory work as agreed or within a reasonable time so as to enable Highland to perform its work timely and without interference or interruption, and by reason of breaches of contract on the part of Stevenson in failing to perform his work and to make payments to Highland as provided in the subcontract, (d) the entry of a judgment in favor of Highland and against Shell in the amount of \$6,604.97 for damages suffered by Highland as a result of Shell's failure to relocate and encase its gas and water lines within the time promised or within a reasonable time, (e) the entry of a judgment in favor of Highland and against Stevenson pursuant to Section 14-1-8, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended and supplemented, for reasonable attorneys fees and costs, and (f) the entry of a judgment in favor of Highland and against USF&G for all sums for which Stevenson is finally adjudicated to be liable to Highland herein.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Some time prior to June 15, 1976, UDOT determined to upgrade a 1.827 mile section of State Road 35, located some five miles north of Duchesne, Utah. (R.663, Ex.P-6). Detailed plans and specifications were prepared by UDOT for the Project which provided, among other items of work, for the excavation of 55,100 cubic yards of material ("Roadway Excavation") from the existing roadway. (Ex.P-7). The Roadway Excavation item of work is the only one involved in this appeal.

At the time the plans and specifications were prepared, Myron Taylor, UDOT's maintenance engineer for UDOT's District 6 wherein the Project was located, was aware of the following unusual and abnormal conditions relating to the portion of State Road 35 underlying the Project:

1. Soft subgrade conditions (R.1046) were causing abnormal rutting and boggyness in a 75 to 100 foot section of the roadway which became extremely wet and saturated each spring and summer. (R.1047-1048, Ex.P-49).

2. A French drain, a major water gathering and drainage device, had been installed in the 75 to 100 foot section of the roadway to collect and drain the water from under the travelled portion of the roadway at that point. The water thus collected was discharged through a two- or three-inch pipe, not visible to someone not acquainted with its location, into a field adjoining the roadway. (R.1050-1051).

Myron Taylor first became acquainted with the roadway underlying the Project in 1945 and was the state official directly responsible for its maintenance at all times after November, 1970. (R.1042-1043).

Notwithstanding Myron Taylor's long familiarity with the roadway and his personal knowledge of the unusual and abnormal conditions that prevailed, he was never contacted by or communicated with UDOT's personnel who prepared the soils reports (Ex.D-20) and the plans and specifications for the Project. (R.1053). Myron Taylor's knowledge was likewise never communicated to Larry Buss, UDOT's Project engineer, until three weeks after work on the Project commenced. (R.680).

Before the Project was bid, it became evident to Larry Buss, UDOT's project engineer for the Project, that a 2700 foot section of the roadway at the western end of the Project would have serious water and soil stability problems. (R.671-672). The knowledge of Larry Buss was likewise never communicated to UDOT's personnel who prepared the soils reports and the plans and specifications.

More significantly, no effort was made by UDOT to disclose or communicate its knowledge of these unusual and abnormal conditions to the contractors who bid on the Project prior to the opening of their bids. (R.681-682).

The plans and specifications reflected no particularly unusual or difficult conditions to be encountered in the general performance of the work, nor did they reflect any such conditions relating to the Roadway Excavation item. (Ex.P-6). UDOT's engineer's estimate of the unit cost for Roadway Excavation item likewise reflected no such conditions. (Ex.P-7). The contractors who submitted bids on the Project were obviously not aware and were not made aware of these unusual and difficult subgrade conditions that were then known to exist by UDOT, as shown by the fact that of the eight bids which were ultimately submitted and opened, one included a unit price for the Roadway Excavation item of \$1.00 per cubic yard, one was for \$1.10, two were for \$1.40, one was for \$1.75, one was for \$1.90 and two were for \$2.00. In the case of the \$1.90 and \$2.00 unit prices the bids which included them were also the highest overall bids that were submitted. (Ex.P-7, Ex.P-8).

Notwithstanding UDOT's knowledge, the plans and specifications and other bidding materials failed to make any reference to the 75 to 100 foot section of unstable roadway, the existence of the French drain, the existence of the drain pipe carrying the flow of water into the adjoining field or the 2700 foot section of roadway known by Larry Buss to have serious water and soil stability problems. The plans and specifications and bidding materials merely contained a

provision buried in the Special Provisions (Ex.P-6, Section 102) which notified bidders of a materials report, soil survey plans and profiles, and test data which was available for inspection at UDOT's offices in Salt Lake City, or at its District office. A document entitled "Soil Survey and Materials Report" was prepared by UDOT for the Project which merely indicated that the Project's soils ranged from a very plastic to a non-plastic silty sandy gravel, that natural surface drainage varied from good to poor, and that some water was accumulating in marshy and saturated zones that occurred where irrigation water seeped from irrigation ditches and canals. (Ex.D-20). Attached to the Soil Survey and Materials Report were ten individual laboratory soil reports indicating that test hole conditions actually encountered by UDOT were "silty sandy bouldery gravel", "red silty fine sand", "red gravelly sandy silt", "sandy silty clay", "gray silty clay", "red silty fine sand" and "red sandy silt with minor clay". (Ex.P-10, Ex.D-20).

Before submitting their bids on the Project, Bryan Bergener, Highland's president, and John W. Lloyd, the owner of John W. Lloyd Const. Co., one of the other bidders on the Project, inspected the Project site by walking and driving over it. They each observed some evidence of moisture coming from the existing canal, such as marsh grass, alkali and surface water. (R.801-806, 930-934, 939, 941-942). Although

they each had had over twenty years experience in bidding construction work similar to the Project and were both very familiar with the roadway in question after having travelled over it, and after having worked on other construction projects in the area, for a number of years, neither Bryan Bergener nor John W. Lloyd believed that any significant water or unstable subgrade conditions existed and they prepared and submitted their bids accordingly. (R.842-843, 930-934).

Bids for the Project were solicited to be opened on June 15, 1976. The bidding materials included UDOT's engineer's estimate for the Roadway Excavation item of \$1.00 per cubic yard. (EX.P-7). Three bids, submitted by Highland, J. M. Sumsion & Sons and LeGrand Johnson Construction Co., were opened at the bid opening. (Ex.P-7). Although Highland was the low bidder, all bids were rejected by UDOT and the Project, with certain revisions, was readvertised for bids to be opened on July 27, 1976. (Ex.P-6). The bidding materials for the second bidding included UDOT's engineer's estimate for the Roadway Excavation item of \$1.50 per cubic yard. (Ex.P-8). Five bids, submitted by Stevenson, John W. Lloyd Const. Co., L. C. Stevenson Construction Co., Highland and James Reed & Co., were opened at the second bid opening. (Ex.P-8). The prime contract ("General Contract") for the Project was thereafter awarded to Stevenson as the low bidder. (Ex.P-1, P-2).

Upon learning that he was the low bidder, Stevenson entered into negotiations with Highland, who was then in the process of completing the construction of another similar highway project approximately 20 miles northwest of the Project and who therefore had a full spread of new earth-moving equipment and men available to perform the earthwork, for the performance by Highland of that portion of the General Contract. (R.813-815). These negotiations resulted in an oral agreement being arrived at on August 3, 1976 for Highland to perform the earthwork, including the Roadway Excavation, under certain specified terms and conditions. (R.815-821, 1327). On August 6, 1976 Highland commenced its work on the Project, pursuant to the agreement thus arrived at. (R.823-824). The agreed upon terms and conditions were thereafter incorporated into a written sub-contract agreement ("Sub-Contract") dated August 9, 1976. (Ex.P-2). The Sub-Contract evidenced the complete understanding of the parties both at the time the agreement was arrived at on August 3, 1976 and at the time the Sub-Contract was executed by the parties on August 19, 1976. (R.823, 1327-1329). Although Highland's two bids on the Project had included a unit price of \$1.40 per cubic yard for the Roadway Excavation item, Highland agreed to perform the Roadway Excavation for Stevenson at the lower unit price of \$1.20 per cubic yard (Ex.P-2), following detailed negotiations which resulted in Stevenson's

considered and voluntary agreement that Highland would be able to conduct a "Highball" operation with no delay or interference and that Highland would have the benefit of the following provisions which were expressly included in the Sub-Contract for the purpose of reducing Highland's cost and burden of performing its work. (R.817, 821, 823, 992-993, 1327-1329):

1. Paragraphs 1 and 10 incorporated by reference the provisions of the "Contract Documents," which included the General Contract and the plans and specifications, and provided that Stevenson would assume toward Highland all of the obligations and responsibilities which UDOT, under the Contract Documents, assumed toward Stevenson.

2. Paragraph 2 obligated Highland to perform the Roadway Excavation item for the \$1.20 unit price and obligated Stevenson to pay Highland progress payments, less the standard 10% retainage, within five days after the receipt by Stevenson of his progress payments from UDOT, and further obligated Stevenson to pay Highland in full for all sums owed under the Sub-Contract, including any unpaid retention, within thirty days following the completion of Highland's work.

3. Paragraph 3 obligated Stevenson to install or cause to be installed or modified any utilities, drainage



pipes, fences, oil pipelines or other items of work in advance of Highland's operation so as not to cause any hindrance or delay to Highland's operation.

4. Paragraph 11 prohibited Stevenson from giving instructions or orders to Highland's workmen.

In the negotiations leading to the Sub-Contract, Stevenson expressly agreed to work double shifts, overtime, weekends, Saturdays, Sundays and holidays if necessary to keep out of Highland's way so that Highland would have absolutely no delay by reason of Stevenson's operations.

(R.818, 992-993, 1238, 1327).

At the time Highland entered into the Sub-Contract, it had the benefit of all bidding information, including the engineer's estimates relating to the Roadway Excavation item which reflected low and medium bids as low as \$1.00 and \$1.10 to as high as \$1.50 and \$1.75. In addition Highland was then aware, as were Myron Taylor and the other bidders, of the high volume traffic by heavy oil field rigs that were then and for some time prior thereto had been using the roadway without any apparent evidence of subgrade instability.

(R.930-934, 963-966, 1049-1055). Bryan Bergener, John Lloyd and Myron Taylor all had been acquainted with the roadway for a number of years prior to the bidding. Based upon their familiarity and inspection they were all three surprised by the conditions that were actually encountered by Highland

when it subsequently commenced its work. (R.930-934, 963-966, 1049-1055).

Consistent with industry practice, on August 9, 1976 Larry Buss convened and conducted a preconstruction conference attended by various representatives of parties having an interest in the Project, including Ernest J. Wilson, UDOT's District 6 construction engineer, Myron Taylor, Paul Traynor, UDOT's District 6 materials engineer, Stevenson, Harry Nash, Shell's plant foreman, and Bryan Bergener, Highland' president. (R.826, Ex.D-56). At the preconstruction conference Larry Buss invited the representatives for the utilities, including Shell, to state what their schedules would be for completing their utility relocations so that the contractors would know when such relocations would be completed. Harry Nash, speaking for Shell, stated that Shell's relocation would be completed in about four days. Shell's four-day schedule was then reaffirmed by Harry Nash upon being questioned further by Bryan Bergener at the conference. (R.828-829, Ex.D-56).

Shell's statement that the relocation would be completed in four days was relied upon by Highland in planning, scheduling and performing its work. (R.829, 831). Shell's relocation was not in fact completed until August 24, 1976. (R.467, 538, 598). Shell could reasonably have completed the

pipeline relocation within the promised four-day period. (R.830, 1350). By reason of Shell's failure to complete its pipeline relocation within the time stated by Harry Nash, Highland's earthmoving operations were interfered with and delayed to its damage from this cause alone in the amount of \$6,604.97. (R.894-906).

There was a discussion at the preconstruction conference between Bryan Bergener, Myron Taylor and Ernest J. Wilson concerning possible soil stability problems that might effect Highland's work. (R.965-966, 1049-1050). In that discussion Myron Taylor and Ernest J. Wilson both expressed the belief that water and associated soil stability problems, if any were encountered at all, would be isolated and not extensive. (R.966). Larry Buss did not express any disagreement with the beliefs expressed by Myron Taylor or Ernest J. Wilson, although he held the belief at that time that it was evident serious subgrade stability problems did exist throughout the western end of the Project. Larry Buss wholly failed to make Highland aware of the very serious subgrade stability problems Larry Buss was then aware of. (R.671-672).

Highland commenced its excavation operations at the western end of the Project on August 11, 1976 (R.825) and immediately encountered unstable subgrade conditions that were so severe that the speed and efficiency of its heavy

earthmoving scrapers being utilized in the excavation operation was seriously impaired. The scrapers were repeatedly stuck and mired down in the boggy, yielding soil and had to be repeatedly extricated from the mud by Highland's other equipment. (R.758-761, 836-837). When the excavation operations reached the area of the French drain a flowing spring in the middle of the highway right of way was encountered. (R.836-840). These adverse conditions prevailed throughout the westernmost 3200 foot section, or approximately one-third, of the Project and resulted in Highland being required to subexcavate the unstable material, in some areas two and three times. (R.840, 845-846). Highland was required to spend 67.6% of its total time on the Project performing 32.7% of its work. (Ex.P-58). The result was a very time-consuming, inefficient and very expensive excavation operation which ultimately resulted in cost overruns to Highland from this cause alone in the amount of \$32,486.18. (Ex.P-30, Ex.P-32 and R.969).

Highland's operations were also delayed and its costs significantly increased by Stevenson's failure, notwithstanding his express agreement and Highland's repeated demands to the contrary, to perform his work (utilities, drainage pipes, fences, oil pipeline and other items of work) or to cause the same to be performed (Ex.P-2, Par.3) in advance of Highland's operations so as not to cause any hindrance or

delay to Highland's operations. The Shell relocation, for which Stevenson was responsible insofar as Highland was concerned, was not timely completed (R.830), the 120 CMP structure was not completed until October 4, 1976 even though it could and should reasonably have been completed within ten days from August 25, 1976 (R.847, 1335-1337), the Pioneer Canal was diverted down the middle of the roadway, rather than down the borrow pit along one side of the roadway as was agreed by Stevenson and as was reasonable, throughout the period commencing August 27, 1976 to September 23, 1976 (R.853-860). In addition Stevenson, in violation of the terms of the Sub-Contract, repeatedly directed Highland's workmen to perform work for Stevenson's sole convenience thereby causing disruption to and inefficiencies in Highland's operations. (R.869-871). Stevenson's failure to perform or cause to be performed his part of the work in a manner so as not to cause any hindrance or delay to Highland resulted in damages to Highland from this cause alone in the amount of \$9,280.76. Stevenson was given repeated notices of these breaches on his part under the Sub-Contract (R.855-859, Ex.P-58).

Highland completed its work and moved its equipment off the Project on October 6, 1976 (R.1279, 1337, Ex.P-58, Pg.8). Stevenson thereafter, without notice to or the consent of Highland (R.1351-1354, 1364-1365, 1383-1384), back

charged Highland for \$3,497.79 for work he claimed he finished for Highland, the last item of which was claimed by him to have been completed on October 29, 1976.

Stevenson received his progress payments from UDOT regularly on a monthly basis within ten days or so of the same day each month (R.1393). Stevenson's payments to Highland, however, were not made monthly or within thirty days following the completion of Highland's work, as provided in the Sub-Contract. Highland received payments on the following dates in the amounts indicated. (R.960, 1389-1390, Ex.P-32).

9/24/76	Estimate No. 1	\$39,900.00
11/6/76	Estimate No. 2	18,338.01
11/16/76	Final Partial	9,290.21
5/13/77	Equipment	2,762.90
12/19/77	Final Partial	10,300.78

Highland had the right, in any event, to receive payment in full for all sums owing to it under the Sub-Contract not later than November 28, 1976, or 30 days following the completion by Stevenson of his claimed work on Highland's behalf on October 29, 1976. A formal Claim (Ex.P-58) was submitted by Highland to Stevenson on January 12, 1977 and when payment in full was not forthcoming Highland initiated this action on July 8, 1977. (R.1). Stevenson's last payment to Highland in the amount of \$10,300.78 was made as indicated above on

December 19, 1977, over six months after this litigation was initiated. (Ex.P-32).

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