1981

# Highland Construction Co. v. LaMar D. Stevenson et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

In the instant case, Highland also resorted to broad generalities, with no attempt at specificity. In doing so, Highland conveniently ignored numerous other factors which must have contributed to its alleged losses on the project. For example, even though it counted on an inefficiency factor of

17 to 27 percent in its bid (R. 1025-1026), it made no allowance for inefficiency in its claim for damages. It also ignored other causes of inefficiency evident from the evidence adduced at trial such as: its admitted errors in bidding the job (R. 1108); its inexperienced and uncooperative equipment operators (R. 1078 to 1079); its inexperienced grade foreman who was unable to accurately make some of the cuts on the project (R. 695); the failure of Bergener, the project foreman to even be present on the job most of the time (R. 1319; 1460); weather (Defendant's Exhibit 48); a concrete shortage (R. 1449); a scraper which consistently broke down (R. 1435-1454); Highland's removing its equipment and personnel from the project for a period of three days to crush gravel for a project which it did not yet even have under contract (R. 1317 to 1318); its having but one cat on the project to perform the operation of both loading scrapers and cutting slopes (R. 1319 to 1321); etc. (R. 1106)

Highland attempted to gloss over all of these factors by the self-serving statement of Bryan Bergener (who was only occasionally on the project) that none of Highland's inefficiencies were of its own making, and that all of them resulted from the wrongful conduct of the defendants.

A review of the case law dealing with the "total cost" approach reveals two leading cases which are representative of a large body of case law rejecting the approach. The leading cases are Huber, Hunt & Nichols, Inc. v. Moore, 67 Cal.App. 3d 278, 136 Cal. Rptr. 603 (1977), and Boyajin v. Unitek States, 423 F.2d 1231 (Ct.Cl. 1970). (For other cases rejecting the "total costs" approach see cases cited in the appendix to this brief.)

In the Huber case, the contractor for the Fresno Convention Center

sued the architect for negligently preparing plans and specifications and for negligent and dilatory approval of change orders and shop drawings and overall supervision of the work. The contractor contended that the acts of the architect caused overall delay of the project resulting in damages to the contractor in the amount of \$732,521.00. As in the instant case, in Huber the plaintiff made no attempt to tie specific amounts to specific alleged breaches, but simply sought a "blanket recovery" of the difference between its overall costs on the project and the amounts that it had been paid pursuant to the contract. As in the instant case, the contractor's manager was permitted to testify from a summary of the overall costs and attributed "every cost overrun to the fault of the defendants without discrimination as to other possible causes." (Id. at 296) The amounts claimed "included extra costs within the total cost without discrimination or segregation and without explanation as to causation." (Id. at Footnote 18.)

The trial court refused to allow the plaintiff to use the total cost approach and the case was appealed. On appeal, the California Appellant Court sustained the trial court's rejection of the total cost approach and stated:

Contractor claims that it was error for the trial court to refuse to allow it to proceed under the 'total cost' principle in proving its damage. This contention is dependent upon the admissibility of plaintiff's Exhibit 3 which we have already discussed.

\* \* \*

Under the 'total cost' method of proof contractor claims that it was entitled to collect the \$732,521.00 difference between its initial bid estimate and the total cost of the project as shown by Appendix A attached hereto. The trial court correctly applied principles enunciated in Boyajian v. United States,



supra. We think the following statement by the United States Court of Claims in Boyajian, supra, is particularly relevant to the basic problems involved in the case at bar:

Nor does the mere fact that plaintiff's books and records do not, in segregated form, show the amounts of the increased costs attributable to the breaches give it automatic license to use the 'total cost' method. Contractors rarely keep their books in such fashion. Such failure, however, normally does not prevent the submission of reasonably satisfactory proof of increased costs incurred during certain contract period or flowing from certain events based, for instance, on acceptable cost allocation principles or on expert testimony . . . . (423 F.2d at 1242)

Contractor's position here and in the court below seems to be simply that although admittedly its computer operated accounting system did not distinguish in any manner between ordinary costs and alleged increased costs proximately caused by Architect's alleged negligence, nevertheless since such computer accounting system was kept in accordance with standard business practices, Contractor was entitled to collect its entire loss as shown by such computer accounting system (plaintiff's Exhibit 3) without being required to prove the normal elements of damage proximately caused by negligence. In other words, Contractor's business accounting methods should be allowed to control principles of law rather than principles of law controlling Contractor's business accounting methods. Id. at 621 and 622.

In its decision in Huber, the court went on to express some of the sound policy reasons underlying its rejection of the total cost method:

If we were to accept Contractor's contention as the law of this state, the result would for all practical purposes, nullify all laws regarding competitive bidding on public contracts. Under such a concept, contractors could submit any bid necessary to obtain the job knowing that the public agency (or its architects) would be required to pay whatever costs contractor incurred on the project if contractor could discover some error or omission however irrelevant in the plans and specifications. Id. at 622-23.

In the Boyajian case, the plaintiff claimed a number of different breaches of a contract with the United States Government. In its damage evidence, the plaintiff made no attempt to tie specific amount of damages to specific breaches, but attempted to use the total cost approach. At the conclusion of the plaintiff's evidence, its claims were dismissed for failure to prove damages and the matter was appealed. In sustaining the dismissal on appeal, the Court of Claims stated:

Defendant's defense based on plaintiff's failure to prove damages is, on this record, required to be sustained. The so-called "total cost" method upon which plaintiff relies is here unacceptable. Accordingly, there is no need to make any determination on the merits of these three causes, for even assuming they are valid and that defendant's conduct amounted to the claimed breaches, plaintiff's failure to make any satisfactory showing of the amount of damages flowing from such breaches would require the dismissal of such cases anyway.

Recovery of damages for a breach of contract is not allowed unless acceptable evidence demonstrates that the damages claimed resulted from and were caused by the breach. 'The costs must be tied in to fault on defendant's part.' River Construction Corp. v. United States, 149 Ct.Cl. 254, 270 (1962). As the court held in J.D. Hedin Construction Company v. United States, 347 F.2d 235, 171 Cl.Cl. 70, 108 (1965):

As in all breach of contract cases, the proper measure of damages for defendant's breaches is the amount of plaintiff's extra costs directly attributable to said breaches. Saddler v. United States, supra. (287 F.2d 411, 152 Ct.Cl. 557 (1961))

Defendant properly contends that the excess costs claimed must be tied in to defendant's breaches.

\* \* \*

However, contrary to these basic causal-connection damage principles, no attempt is here made to relate any specific amount of increased costs to any particular alleged breach. Id. at 1235.

In its opinion, the Court made an extensive analysis of the law in this area and reviewed the very few cases which had allowed some form of a total costs approach to be used. In doing so, the Court pointed out that the approach had only been allowed in "extreme" cases, that the total costs were "only a starting point" and that in the rare case where the total cost approach had been allowed it had been done "under proper safeguards."

In the Boyajian decision, the Court went on to point out that the total costs approach had never been allowed in a case involving multiple claims:

None of such cases were comparable to the instant one, in which several breaches are alleged but consolidated for damages purposes into a claimed, unadjusted 'total cost' recovery. The above review indicates that the court has never allowed such a recovery in such a case. On the other hand, it has consistently insisted on a showing that 'the excess costs claimed must be tied to the defendant's breaches. (Citation omitted) Id. at 1242.

The Court concluded its rejection of the total cost approach by stating:

However, where the record is blank with respect to any such alternative evidence, the court has been obliged to dismiss the claim for failure of damage proof, regardless of the merits. (Citations omitted) The instant case falls in the latter category. Accordingly, plaintiff's three causes of action based upon the Modulator Contract must be dismissed. Id. at 1244.

The facts of the instant case compel rejection of the total cost method even more strongly than did the facts in the Boyajian case. The Boyajian case did involve multiple claims lumped into one for damage purposes. However, all of such claims were directed at one defendant, the United States Government. The instant case not only involves multiple claims, but multiple



defendants. In such a case, the total cost method is completely unworkable and would place a totally unreasonable burden both on the defendants (in attempting to refute the damage evidence) and on the court (in attempting to assess the damages, if any).

Based on the foregoing, it is respectfully submitted that the plaintiff's attempted use of the total cost method must be rejected and that the trial court could have and should have dismissed Highland's claims for failure to establish the essential elements of causation and damages.

POINT VII: THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS TO STEVENSON IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

At the commencement of the trial, it was stipulated that the contract in question was a contract for the construction, alteration or repair of a public work and improvement of the State of Utah. (R. 639 to 640) These facts make the contract in question a "public contract" and bring it under the provisions of Title 14, Chapter 1 of the Utah Code, which deals with public contracts. Section 8 of Chapter 1, Title 14, of the Utah Code provides:

In any action brought upon either of the bonds provided herein . . . the prevailing party, upon each separate cause of action, shall recover a reasonable attorney's fee to be taxed as costs.

In its pleadings and at trial, Highland did not dispute that the prevailing party was entitled to recover its attorneys fees and, in fact, Highland sought recovery of attorneys fees under the foregoing section in all of its pleadings. From its brief, it is apparent that Highland does not dispute that Section 14-1-8 is applicable to the instant case and that the prevailing party is entitled to its attorneys fees. (See p. 31-32 of Appellant's Brief)



In their counterclaim against Highland, both defendants Stevenson and USF&G prayed for recovery of attorneys fees under Section 14-1-8. (R. 59)

In addition, the subcontract document, which was prepared by Highland, provided in paragraph 6(e):

In the event Sub-Contractor defaults in the performance of its obligations hereunder, Contractor shall be entitled to recover from Sub-Contractor all costs incurred in connection with the enforcement of Contractor's rights hereunder, including court costs and reasonable attorney's fees, whether incurred with or without suit or before or after judgment.

In its findings of fact and conclusions of law (R. 570-580), the trial court found that Highland had breached the subcontract and was entitled in accordance with the foregoing provision, to recover its attorney's fees and other costs. The court further found that Stevenson was a "prevailing party" within the meaning of Section 14-1-8 and was entitled to recover his attorney's fees and costs.

At trial, the parties stipulated that "evidence with respect to attorneys fees need not be presented at trial, but that consideration by the court of an award of attorneys fees would be deferred until after the court's ruling on the merits of the case in chief." (R. 547-548; 1192) In accordance, with the aforesaid agreement, a hearing was scheduled for April 4, 1980, for the consideration of the claims of defendants, Lamar D. Stevenson and USF&G for attorneys fees and for the presentation of evidence relating to such claims. (R. 548) Subsequent to the scheduling of said hearing, Highland expressed a willingness to waive the hearing and to allow the claims for attorneys fees to be considered by the court pursuant to stipulation (R. 548) Accordingly, all of the parties, through their attorneys of record

entered into a written stipulation wherein it was agreed that the hearing on the attorneys fees question was waived and that Highland waived both its right to present evidence on the issue and its right to cross-examine the opposing witnesses. It was further stipulated that if a hearing were held that Stevenson and his attorney would testify that Stevenson had actually and necessarily incurred attorneys fees and costs in this action totalling \$19,474.00 and that such fees were reasonable. The written stipulation further provided:

The parties stipulate that the aforesaid facts and testimonies of Roger P. Christensen and Lamar D. Stevenson may be considered by the court as if presented by sworn testimony at a formal evidenciary hearing; and the parties waive their right to an evidenciary hearing on the attorney's fees claims and waive their right to cross-examine the witnesses at such hearing.

The attorney's fees claims are hereby submitted to the court for ruling on the basis of this stipulation and the record in this case.

Highland presented no countering evidence and neither expressed nor offered any opposition to the award of attorneys fees and costs to Stevenson in the amount specified. Accordingly, the court subsequently entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgments in favor of Stevenson in the amounts set forth in the written stipulation. (R. 547-550; R. 570-580; R. 599-600; R. 602-605)

Highland, which neither offered nor expressed any opposition to the award of attorneys fees by the trial court, now raises that issue for the first time on appeal. It is fundamental law that issues and theories which were not raised in the lower court, will not be entertained on appeal. Park City v. Ensign Company, 586 P.2d 446 (Utah 1978); Edger v. Wagner, 572 P.2d

405 (Utah 1977); Simpson v. General Motors, 24 Utah 2d 301, 470 P.2d 39 (1970); and Wagner v. Olsen, 25 Utah 2d 366, 482 P.2d 702 (1971).

Furthermore, Highland's contention that the alleged delay in paying sums due it under the subcontract somehow should affect the attorneys fee award is without merit. The alleged delay of Stevenson in making payments to Highland was one of the factual issues in dispute at trial. After hearing the evidence, the trial court found that Highland had failed to sustain its burden on that issue and the claim was rejected. (R. 570-580)

Moreover, by failing to file a motion objecting to the award of costs as required by Rule 54(d)(2) U.R.C.P., Highland waived any right it may have had to raise that issue on this appeal. Suniland Corp. v. Radcliffe, 570 P.2d 847 (Utah 1978)

Accordingly, for the reason that Highland is precluded from raising this issue for the first time on appeal, and for the reason that the facts upon which Highland's arguments are based were rejected by the finder of fact and for the reason that the trial court's award of attorneys fees is supported by facts which were not only undisputed, but stipulated to by Highland; it is respectfully submitted that the trial court's award of attorneys fees should be sustained.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, respondents respectfully submit that the trial court's findings and judgments were proper and amply supported by the evidence in all respects and should be sustained.

It is further submitted that Stevenson should be found to be the "prevailing party" within the meaning of Section 14-1-8, U.C.A. (1953) on this

appeal and that judgment should be awarded by this Court, pursuant to said statute and pursuant to Paragraph 6(e) of the subcontract document, in favor of respondent Stevenson and against appellant for the attorneys fees and costs incurred by respondent in connection with of this appeal.